STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Horry County  
Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

ABDUL FURQUAN,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001173  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL  
RECEIVED  
MAR 17 2020  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR judge err in finding that trial counsel was not ineffective where counsel failed to elicit testimony that Petitioner's DNA was excluded from the gun, gloves or bandanas that were allegedly used in the commission of the crime?

## STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted in May of 2012 by the Horry County grand jury for burglary first degree, attempted murder, and unlawful possession of a firearm. App. 480. The solicitor served Petitioner with notice of his intent to seek a sentence of life without parole pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §17-25-45 on July 23, 2013. App. 257.

On September 18, 2013, Petitioner's case was called to trial before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Sr. and a jury. App. 14. Petitioner was represented by Ryan Stampfle and the state was represented by Joshua Holford. App. 14. The jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 256. The judge sentenced him to life without the possibility of parole pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §17-25-45. App. 262, l. 22 – 263, l. 7.

David Moran testified at Petitioner's trial that on October 16, 2011 at around 11:30 p.m. he heard a knock on his front door. App. 188, l. 1 – 189, l. 13. Moran recalled: "I opened the door and I saw two gentlemen there, bandanas covering their faces . . . all I could see was pretty much their eyes." App. 189, ll. 15 – 25. Moran said that the two men forced their way into his house and one of them punched him in the face and the other shot him with a silver revolver. App. 190, ll. 1 – 25.

Tyler Topolski, Samantha Topolski,<sup>1</sup> and Lindsay Smith all testified that they were with Petitioner and Jeremy Fleming<sup>2</sup> the day of the alleged crime. According to Tyler and Samantha, Fleming asked them to give him a ride to someone's house so that he could get money. App. 76, l. 19 – 77, l. 3; app. 87, ll. 20 – 25. Lindsay recalled that she drove the other four individuals,

---

<sup>1</sup> Tyler and Samantha are brother and sister.

<sup>2</sup> Fleming was Petitioner's co-defendant who testified against Petitioner at his trial.

Tyler, Samantha, Fleming and Petitioner, to Ivystone Apartments where Petitioner and Fleming needed to get money from somebody. App. 107, l. 15 – 108, l. 6.

Tyler, Samantha and Lindsay each claimed that when they got to Ivystone Apartments, Petitioner and Fleming got out of the vehicle and walked towards the apartment building together. App. 77, l. 10 – 14; app. 89, ll. 6 – 22; app. 108, ll. 9 – 11. They heard what sounded like a gunshot a couple of minutes later, followed by Petitioner and Fleming running back to the car. App. 78, ll. 11 – 21; app. 90, l. 21 – 91, l. 6; app. 108, ll. 11 – 18.

Tyler, Samantha and Lindsay each said that Petitioner was carrying a gun<sup>3</sup> in his hand when he got back to the car and that he pointed the gun at Lindsay's back and told her to drive. App. 79, ll. 8 – 21; app. 91, ll. 8 – 12; app. 108, ll. 18 – 22. Tyler testified that Fleming had on gloves with a skull design on them but that neither Fleming nor Petitioner had their faces covered when they got out of the car and approached the apartment. App. 78, ll. 3 – 10. Samantha said that Petitioner and Fleming were wearing hoodies and gloves; Lindsay claimed that they also both had bandanas covering their faces. App. 89, ll. 23 – 25; app. 108, l. 23 – 109, l. 4.

Petitioner's co-defendant, Fleming, testified against Petitioner. Fleming claimed that he went to Moran's apartment to buy marijuana but as soon as the door was opened, he ran away. App. 172, ll. 19 – 22. Fleming denied having a gun and said Petitioner had a revolver. App. 172, l. 25 – 173, l. 5. Fleming did however admit that he was wearing skeletal gloves but maintained that he never had any type of mask over his face. App. 173, ll. 22 – 25; app. 177, ll. 11 – 12. He also denied ever having the gun or shooting the gun. App. 174, ll. 1 – 2; app. 175, ll. 20 – 23; app. 176, ll. 2 – 3; app. 185, ll. 1 – 5.

---

<sup>3</sup> Tyler described the gun as a silver revolver with a black handle. App. 79, ll. 12 – 16.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions on direct appeal. State v. Furquan, No. 2016-UP-479 (Filed November 16, 2016); App. 310.

Petitioner filed his PCR application on November 27, 2017. App. 360. The state filed its return and partial motion to dismiss on March 5, 2018. App. 374. An evidentiary hearing was held on March 29, 2019 before the Honorable Bentley Price. App. 383. Petitioner was represented by James Falk and the state was represented by Jacob Isenberg. App. 383. Testifying at the hearing were Petitioner and his trial counsel, Ryan Stampfle. App. 384. The PCR judge denied Petitioner's application for relief. App. 456.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR judge erred in finding that trial counsel was not ineffective because counsel failed to elicit testimony that Petitioner's DNA was excluded from the gun, gloves or bandanas that were allegedly used in the commission of the crime.

### **Relevant Facts**

SLED conducted DNA analysis on several pieces of evidence in Petitioner's case including a silver revolver found at Petitioner and Fleming's residence along with two bandanas and a pair of gloves. App. 454. The SLED DNA analyst concluded that Petitioner's DNA was not on any of these items. App. 454. This information was never presented to the jury at Petitioner's trial.

Stampfle testified at Petitioner's PCR hearing that he had considered eliciting testimony regarding the DNA report but decided not to because he did not want to lose last closing argument and that "it didn't exonerate [Petitioner]." App. 425, ll. 1 – 14. Counsel also claimed that when he spoke with the SLED agents about the DNA report in preparation for trial, they indicated that if they were called to testify by the defense, they would have pointed out that "there wasn't some smoking bullet in the DNA evidence that said [Petitioner] didn't do it." App. 426, ll. 19 – 24. Counsel continued: "It wasn't like it was a paternity test and he's either the father or not the father. Just that those particular items, he hadn't worn them, or they had been cleaned." App. 426, l. 24 – 427, l. 5. Counsel acknowledged that he did not cross examine the lead investigator regarding the absence of Petitioner's DNA on the gun, bandanas, and gloves. App. 427, ll. 6 – 24.

Petitioner's PCR counsel argued to the PCR judge that trial counsel could have cross examined the lead investigator regarding the lack of DNA connecting Petitioner to the scene in

order to get this information before the jury without losing last closing argument. App. 445, ll. 4 – 19. PCR counsel further pointed out that had the fact that Petitioner’s DNA was not found on any of the key items allegedly involved in the crime, trial counsel would have been able to persuasively argue to the jury that Petitioner was not guilty. App. 446, ll. 1 – 4.

The PCR judge found that trial counsel conducted a reasonable investigation into the SLED DNA report by interviewing the SLED agents involved in testing the DNA samples and subpoenaing them for trial. App. 460 – 461. The PCR judge further found that Petitioner failed to show prejudice because there was overwhelming evidence that Petitioner was present at the scene. App. 463.

### **Discussion**

In order to prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must show that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient,” meaning that it fell below reasonable professional norms, and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668.

Criminal defense attorneys have a duty to conduct a reasonable independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case. Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331-332, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007). “[C]ounsel’s decision not to investigate should be assessed for reasonableness under all the circumstances with heavy deference to counsel’s judgment.” Bagwell v. State, 410 S.C. 259, 265, 763 S.E.2d 630, 633 (Ct. App. 2014).

In this case, counsel knew of the DNA evidence which excluded Appellant from very important items that were alleged to have been used in the crime and still failed to introduce this evidence to the jury. Counsel’s reason for not wanting to lose last closing argument is belied by his admission that he could have elicited this favorable DNA evidence through cross examination of the lead investigator and thus would not have lost the right to last closing argument. App. 427, ll. 6 – 24.

Counsel’s reasoning that he did not introduce the DNA evidence because it did not exonerate Petitioner is equally unpersuasive. Whether a piece of evidence completely exonerates the defendant is not the standard by which a reasonable trial attorney chooses to introduce it or not. The fact is that the DNA evidence showing that Petitioner was excluded from all the items alleged to have been involved in the crime would have likely changed the outcome of the case. DNA evidence is some of the most impactful testimony that can be introduced in front of a jury. There can be no doubt that had Petitioner’s DNA been on any of the items tested, the state would have relied on it heavily. Conversely, because Petitioner’s DNA was excluded from these items, a reasonable defense attorney would have raised this very important evidence to the jury in support of an acquittal.

In Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590 (2007), this Court found that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly challenge the state’s gunshot residue evidence.

Specifically, the state's expert at trial testified that there was no gunshot residue on the victim's hands. Id. at 322-323, 642 S.E.2d at 592. The state used this evidence to argue that the victim was not handling the gun which undermined Ard's accident defense. Id. at 325, 642 S.E.2d at 593.

At the PCR hearing in Ard, the gunshot residue expert who had testified at trial stated that had defense counsel cross examined him regarding the particles that were found on the victim's hands, he would have acknowledged that the particles were associated with gunshot residue while not "technically" meeting the SLED threshold for calling it a positive identification. Id. at 328, 642 S.E.2d at 595. The expert also admitted that the particles found on the victim's hands had two of the three required elements for gunshot residue which could indicate that she had handled the firearm. Id. This Court affirmed the PCR judge's grant of relief because trial counsel's failure to adequately challenge the gunshot residue resulted in significant prejudice to the defendant in the guilt phase of his trial. Id. at 332, 642 S.E.2d at 597.

In this case, trial counsel admitted at the PCR hearing that he and the assistant solicitor agreed to a "mere presence" instruction being given to the jury and mere presence was essentially the argument counsel made in closing to the jury. App. 231, l. 5 – 235, l. 12; app. 428, ll. 2 – 12. Had trial counsel elicited the testimony that Petitioner's DNA was excluded from the gun that was used to shoot the victim it would have significantly benefited his mere presence argument. This is especially true because three witnesses testified that it was Petitioner who had the gun when he and Fleming got back to the car after the shooting had occurred.<sup>4</sup> The DNA evidence could have been used to effectively contradict the testimony of these three witnesses.

---

<sup>4</sup> Unfortunately, trial counsel commented in his closing argument that he did not dispute that Petitioner took possession of the gun after the shooting occurred. App. 234, ll. 1 – 6. However, had trial counsel been effective and elicited the testimony that Petitioner's DNA was excluded

Finally, trial counsel's testimony at the PCR hearing that he did not want to call the SLED agents to introduce the DNA evidence because they would testify that the absence of Petitioner's DNA from the tested items could have indicated that the items had been "cleaned" is also unavailing. Had these items been "cleaned," then there would have been *no* DNA found on them at all. However, there was DNA found on the gun, both gloves, and one of the bandanas. App. 454. While Petitioner was excluded from all these items, Fleming was not. This suggests that these items were not cleaned as was supposedly suggested to trial counsel by the SLED agents. It also suggests that Petitioner did not come into contact with these items, which were essential to the state's theory of the case.

In Bagwell v. State, 410 S.C. 259, 763 S.E.2d 630 (Ct. App. 2014), the Court of Appeals found that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain DNA testing on blood that was found at the crime scene. The state had alleged that Bagwell committed a burglary and that the alleged victims had seen the defendant exiting through a glass door, which was shattered. Id. at 262; 763 S.E.2d at 632. Both alleged victims testified that Bagwell had blood on his face from an apparent cut. Id. The state also introduced a photograph of Bagwell allegedly taken after the burglary which showed him with blood on his face. Id. The state then argued in its closing argument that the cut on Bagwell's face came from the glass door at the scene of the burglary. Id.

In Bagwell, trial counsel testified at the PCR that she did not request DNA testing on the blood found on the glass door at the scene because she thought that the state was going to test it. At the PCR hearing, trial counsel said that the results of the DNA test would not have exonerated Bagwell but that it "may have affected" the outcome. Id. at 263, 763 S.E.2d at 632-633. The

---


from the gun and Fleming's DNA could not be excluded from the gun, he would not have conceded that Petitioner was ever in possession of the gun.

Bagwell Court ultimately concluded that trial counsel was ineffective because her failure to obtain DNA testing was unreasonable since the state relied on the glass door and the cut on Bagwell's face as evidence of his guilt. Id. at 265, 763 S.E.2d at 634. Furthermore, Bagwell presented DNA evidence at his PCR hearing that showed his DNA was excluded from the blood on the glass door at the scene. Id. at 263, 763 S.E.2d at 632. As a result, the Bagwell Court found that trial counsel's failure to investigate and introduce this evidence at trial prejudiced the defendant. Id. at 268, 763 S.E.2d at 635.

As in Bagwell, the DNA evidence here was also important. In this case the state relied on the testimony of three eyewitnesses who stated that Petitioner was in possession of the gun when he and Fleming returned to the car after they heard the gunshot. The DNA evidence which excluded Petitioner's DNA from the gun but did not exclude Fleming's DNA from the gun significantly undermined the testimony of these three witnesses. The fact that Petitioner's DNA was also excluded from the bandana and the gloves also undermined these witnesses' testimony that Petitioner was wearing a bandana. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to elicit this extremely important DNA evidence and Petitioner was prejudiced as a result. See Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331-332, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007); Bagwell v. State, 410 S.C. 259, 763 S.E.2d 630 (Ct. App. 2014).

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing argument, Petitioner respectfully requests this Court grant the petition for writ of certiorari and order further briefing on the issue presented.



---

Adam Sinclair Ruffin  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER