STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

May 19 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Trial Judge
The Honorable Bentley Price, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001173

ABDUL FURQUAN. Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHELSEY F. MARTO
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 104191

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner failed to establish constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel by choosing not to elicit testimony concerning DNA evidence because Counsel’s trial strategy was reasonable and and Petitioner was not prejudiced by the alleged inaction.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because counsel was ineffective for failing to elicit testimony that Petitioner’s DNA was excluded from the gun, gloves, or bandanas that were allegedly used in the commission of the crime. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that Counsel was not deficient in eliciting this testimony because he cross-examined multiple witnesses regarding this issue and no evidence of the alleged deficiency prejudicing Petitioner was shown. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

In a PCR action, the applicant bears the burden of proving allegations contained in the application. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). When an applicant asserts ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must show “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. Ineffective assistance of counsel is governed by the Sixth Amendment, as explained by the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*.

Pursuant to the first prong of the *Strickland* analysis, the applicant must prove defense counsel’s performance was deficient. *Id.* at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To show deficiency, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel’s actions fell outside of the zone of “reasonableness under prevailing

professional norms.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. *See also* Rule 71.1(e), SCRCPP (“The applicant has the burden of establishing his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence.”). Reasonableness is determined by the “variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how to best represent a criminal defendant,” and the scope of the reasonableness inquiry is limited to facts counsel had available at the time of representation. *Id.* at 689. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 5 (2003) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance remains highly deferential towards defense counsel with a strong presumption that counsel acted competently, because competent representation may be executed in virtually “countless” ways. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant so that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. *Id.* at 695. Realistically, this matters “only in the rarest case” because “[t]he likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 111-12 (2011) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies; if it is

easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Id.* at 696-97.

“Where trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain trial strategy, counsel will not be deemed ineffective.” *McKnight v. State*, 378 S.C. 33, 43, 661 S.E.2d 354, 359 (2008) (citing *Roseboro v. State*, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995)). Counsel can be deficient when examining witnesses if they fail to elicit testimony key to a petitioner’s defense. *Miller v. State*, 379 S.C. 108, 116, 665 S.E.2d 596, 600 (2008), abrogated on other grounds by *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018) (finding counsel was deficient in failing to elicit testimony about similarities between armed robberies from a witness who could corroborate where the applicant’s key defense was third party guilt).

To prove prejudice, a petitioner must first provide evidence of what a more extensive cross-examination would have revealed without speculating. *Miller*, 325 S.C. at 217, 481 S.E.2d at 133 (finding no prejudice where petitioner did not present any evidence at the PCR hearing to exhibit additional information a trial witness should have been examined on).

Here, Petitioner alleges Counsel was ineffective for failing to elicit testimony about evidence connecting Petitioner to the gun, gloves, and bandana. However, Counsel was not deficient in failing to elicit testimony because any failure to elicit testimony regarding the items was a part of a valid and reasonable trial strategy and, even if this Court found Counsel was deficient, Petitioner was not prejudiced as a result.

Deficiency

Counsel’s trial activities were a part of a larger and reasonable trial strategy and, thus, no deficiency can be found. Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that, even though he originally subpoenaed SLED agents to testify, he decided not to call them because he did not want to allow

them to have the last argument in front of the jury. (App. 425). Additionally, Counsel stated that no one alleged that Petitioner's DNA evidence was on the items at trial, but conceded he could have asked if DNA evidence placing him at the scene existed, but did not. (App. 428).

Counsel stated that he chose not to pursue this line of questioning because SLED agents stated in prior conversations with him that no "smoking bullet" existed within the scope of DNA evidence indicating that Petitioner was exculpable. (App. 426). They also told Counsel that the evidence suggests either that Petitioner did not wear the items or that they were cleaned, thereby not exonerating Petitioner of anything. (App. 426-27). He further testified that the home search occurred days after the incident in question and, thus, the lack of DNA evidence was not surprising to anyone. (App. 427). This evidence did not exculpate Petitioner, but pursuing a line of questioning regarding this evidence might draw the jury's attention to the issue, with them ultimately concluding DNA evidence is unneeded for someone to be found guilty of a crime. At the PCR hearing, Counsel indicated he thought this extra attention would hurt their case. (App. 426-27). Thus, Counsel's decision not to draw the jury's attention to that fact was a reasonable trial strategy and, thus, Counsel was not deficient for executing it.

Prejudice

Even if Counsel was deficient, prejudice cannot be found. Counsel credibly recalled using cross-examination across multiple witnesses to highlight the likelihood Jeremy fired the weapon. (App. 431). Specifically, on cross-examination, Tyler, Samantha, and Lindsey testified they did not know who fired the weapon. (App. 84, 96, 115). Samantha testified to telling police during the interview that Jeremy "shot the dude in the head." (App. 98). Lindsay testified to not remembering she told police Jeremy shot a guy and Jeremy said he wanted to go back and finish the job. (App. 113-117). Thereafter, Troy testified nobody claimed ownership of the gun when it

was recovered. (Tr. 129). Counsel clearly did raise this issue regarding possession of the gun multiple times during the trial and the State's witnesses also corroborated the Counsel's point that Petitioner did not possess the weapon. Any additional testimony would be duplicative and, consequently, not key to the defense.

Additionally, Petitioner did not present any evidence or testimony at the PCR hearing showing that the evidence would have revealed but for Counsel's alleged deficiency. Additionally, though Petitioner testified that Counsel should have cross-examined Troy to show Jeremy had possessed the gun, Troy did not testify at the PCR hearing and, consequently, any allegation Petitioner made regarding what Troy would have said is speculative. Further, at trial, Troy's testimony reflected that he did not know who owned the gun. Additionally, he argued that Counsel should have called the SLED agents because of the lack of DNA evidence on the gun. However, several witnesses testified that they did not see Petitioner with a gun and, thus, any testimony from SLED agents would have been duplicative. Additionally, Petitioner did not call SLED agents to testify at the PCR hearing and, thus, Petitioner's argument did not rise above the level of mere speculation. Thus, Petitioner's argument that he was prejudiced by failure to elicit testimony regarding the lack of DNA evidence on the gun fails.

At the PCR hearing, when asked to point out where anyone testifying alleged he wore the gloves, Petitioner stated he could not. (App. 417). At trial, Tyler testified to seeing Jeremy with skeletal gloves on that night. (App. 78). Samantha testified to seeing Jeremy with skeletal gloves on. (App. 98). The Crime Scene Investigator, Jill, testified the skeletal gloves recovered had gunshot residue on them. (App. 170). Jeremy testified he wore the skeletal gloves. (App. 163). Thus, further evidence of Petitioner not wearing gloves that night would have been cumulative and not key to the defense. Therefore, probative evidence does exist, showing Petitioner was not

prejudiced by Counsel's action or inaction even if this Court found that Counsel was deficient.

When asked who testified to him wearing gloves, Petitioner conceded that no one could remember him wearing gloves and that there was no evidence of him wearing gloves presented at trial. (App. 419). Further, beyond the allegation that Counsel was ineffective for failing to elicit testimony that specifically showed he was not wearing gloves, Petitioner presented no evidence or testimony at trial showing what evidence could have been revealed if this testimony was elicited at trial. Most notably, Petitioner's arguments hinge on Counsel's alleged failure to question SLED agents about the lack of DNA evidence on the items, including the gloves, but Petitioner failed to call the SLED agents to testify about evidence he claims would have changed the outcome of the trial. Thus, his allegations do not rise above the level of mere speculation and, as such, must be rejected.

Regarding the bandana, though multiple witnesses stated that Petitioner was wearing a bandana and Counsel failed to object or otherwise elicit contradictory testimony indicating Petitioner's DNA was not found on the bandanas, Petitioner failed to call the SLED agents at the PCR hearing and did not otherwise present evidence indicating the missing testimony would have made a difference at trial. Thus, Petitioner failed to show he was prejudiced by Counsel's alleged ineffectiveness in eliciting testimony regarding the missing DNA evidence on the bandana and, thus, this allegation should be rejected and relief denied.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this court should deny certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's findings that Petitioner had effective assistance of counsel. However, if this Court decides to grant the petition of writ of certiorari, Respondent respectfully requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.